# **Research Report**

Learning Platforms for Cyber Security Professionals

**Laura Chudzio – c00253150** 

# **Abstract**

This research manual aims to offer insights into the practical use of cybersecurity tools for professionals actively dealing with cybercrime in their daily work. Tailored for those already immersed in the field, the document breaks down the process of preparing cybersecurity professionals to effectively utilize the learning platform and the tools readily available to them.

The central goal of the learning platform is to boost participants skills and provide a clear picture of their strengths and weaknesses. By following this user-friendly manual, cybersecurity professionals can anticipate an improved skill set, empowering them to navigate the challenges of cyber threats with increased confidence and practical knowledge.

# **Table of Contents**

Tarranama Church and to Cohomogouth Foundamentals Today by the Constitution of the	d Causaus
Taxonomy Structure to Cybersecurity Fundamentals, Technologies, Practices, Ethics, an	
Cybersecurity Fundamentals	
Cybersecurity Concepts and Terminology	
Cybersecurity Threats and Vulnerabilities	
Cybersecurity Risks and Impact	
Cybersecurity Technologies	
Network Security Technologies	
System Security Technologies	
Application Security Technologies	
Cybersecurity Practices	
Risk Management	
Incident Response	
Security Awareness and Training	
Cybersecurity Ethics and Law	
Privacy and Data Protection	
Cybersecurity Legislation	
Ethical Considerations in Cybersecurity	
Cybersecurity Careers	
Cybersecurity Job Roles and Responsibilities	
Cybersecurity Education and Training Pathways	
Cybersecurity Career Advancement Opportunities	
Cybersecurity Learning Platforms	
Formal Education	
Professional Training	
Gamified Learning	10
Interactive Learning Platforms	1
axonomy of Cybersecurity Certifications	14
Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP)	
GIAC Certified Ethical Hacker (CEH)	
Certified Ethical Hacker - Master (CEH Master)	1!
GIAC Certified Security Expert (GSE)	
echnologies used in this project	
HTMLCSS	1
	1
	1
JavaScriptXAMPP	1
XAMPPAnache	1
Apache MySQL	18
Technologies used in the Cyber Security areas	
Python	
C/C++lava	1:
JavaPowerShell	1
PowerShell	
Assembly LanguagePerl	19
mmary and Conclusion	2(

# Introduction

Welcome to my Research Report for the development of a comprehensive cybersecurity training program. This report is designed to detail the crucial aspects, methodologies, and objective of the project in creating a training platform tailored for security professionals.

The primary goal is to equip individuals within the cybersecurity realm with the essential knowledge, practical skills and expertise required to excel in their roles. The learning platform, hosted on a website, aims to revolutionize the way professionals engage with cybersecurity education.

# **Taxonomy-Based Approach**

This report employs a taxonomy-based approach, categorizing essential elements for an effective cybersecurity training program, covering knowledge acquisition, practical skill development, expertise enhancement, and an engaging user interface with gamified challenges and real-world case studies.

# Taxonomy Structure to Cybersecurity Fundamentals, Technologies, Practices, Ethics, and Careers

# **Cybersecurity Fundamentals**

# **Cybersecurity Concepts and Terminology**

- Confidentiality, Integrity, and Availability (CIA) Triad: This foundational concept emphasizes the importance of protecting sensitive information from unauthorized access (confidentiality), ensuring the data's accuracy and completeness (integrity), and maintaining the system's functionality to access data (availability). (Chai, 2023)
- **Diverse Types of Cyberattacks:** Cyberattacks can range from malware infection and phishing attacks to social engineering ploys and ransomware encryption. Understanding the different attack vectors and techniques is crucial for developing effective countermeasures. (babix, 2023)
- The Cybercrime Landscape: The cybercrime landscape encompasses the motivations, methods, and criminals
  of cyberattacks. Identifying the trends and patterns of cybercrime helps organizations anticipate and mitigate
  potential threats.

# **Cybersecurity Threats and Vulnerabilities**

- **Malware:** Malicious software designed to harm or disrupt computer systems. Examples include viruses, worms, trojans, and spyware.
- **Phishing:** Deceptive emails or websites that trick users into revealing personal information or clicking on malicious links.
- **Social Engineering:** Exploiting human psychology to manipulate individuals into compromising their security. Examples include pretexting, baiting, and dumpster diving.
- Ransomware: Software that encrypts data and demands a ransom payment to decrypt the data.

# **Cybersecurity Risks and Impact**

- Financial Losses: Monetary damage incurred from data breaches, lost productivity, and reputational damage.
- Reputational Damage: Negative impact on an organization's brand and customer trust due to a cybersecurity breach.
- **Operational Disruptions:** Business interruptions and disruptions caused by cyberattacks, impacting productivity and revenue.

# **Cybersecurity Technologies**

# **Network Security Technologies**

- Firewalls: Protect networks by filtering and blocking unauthorized traffic.
- Intrusion Detection and Prevention Systems (IDS/IPS): Monitor network traffic for suspicious activity and take action to block or alert administrators.
- **Virtual Private Networks (VPNs):** Create secure tunnels for remote access and protect data transmitted over public networks. (Cavalancia, 2020)

# **System Security Technologies**

- Access Control: Enforces who can access specific systems and resources based on their roles and permissions.
- Encryption: Scrambles data to prevent unauthorized access and eavesdropping.
- Vulnerability Management: Identifies, prioritizes, and remediates vulnerabilities in systems and software.

# **Application Security Technologies**

- **Input Validation**: Ensures that data entered into web applications is sanitized and validated to prevent injection attacks.
- Secure Coding Practices: Employ programming techniques to minimize vulnerabilities in software code.
- **Penetration Testing:** Simulates cyberattacks to identify and assess application security weaknesses.

# **Cybersecurity Practices**

# **Risk Management**

- **Identifying Risks:** Identifies potential threats and vulnerabilities that could impact an organization's cybersecurity posture.
- Assessing Risks: Evaluates the likelihood and impact of identified risks to prioritize mitigation efforts.
- **Prioritizing Risks:** Focuses on addressing the most critical risks that pose the greatest threat to the organization.
- **Developing Mitigation Strategies:** Creates plans to address prioritized risks, such as implementing security controls, training employees, and contingency plans.

#### **Incident Response**

- Identifying Incidents: Detects and acknowledges cybersecurity incidents rapidly.
- **Containing Damage:** Limits the impact of the incident by isolating affected systems, preventing further damage, and minimizing downtime.
- **Recovering from Attacks:** Restores systems and data to their pre-incident state and implements measures to prevent recurrence. (ncsc, 2023)

# **Security Awareness and Training**

- **Educating Employees:** Provides employees with cybersecurity training to raise awareness of risks, promote safe online behavior, and prevent human error.
- **Instilling Best Practices:** Emphasizes password management, social engineering vigilance, and phishing prevention techniques.
- **Ongoing Training:** Conducts regular security awareness training to keep employees informed of evolving threats and best practices.

# **Cybersecurity Ethics and Law**

# **Privacy and Data Protection**

- **Understanding Regulations:** Comprehends international and national data privacy regulations, such as the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA).
- **Data Minimization:** Collects, stores, and processes only the minimum amount of personal data necessary for its intended purpose.
- **Transparency and Accountability:** Provides clear and transparent information about data collection, processing, and storage practices.

# **Cybersecurity Legislation**

• **Understanding Laws:** Comprehends cybersecurity related laws, such as the Cybersecurity Information Sharing Act (CISA) in the United States and the Network and Information Systems Security Directive (NIS Directive) in the European Union. (enisa, 2023)

# **Ethical Considerations in Cybersecurity**

- **Respecting Privacy:** Upholds individuals' right to privacy and refrains from collecting, using, or disclosing personal data without proper authorization or consent.
- **Protecting Data:** Safeguards sensitive data from unauthorized access, alteration, or destruction, ensuring its integrity and confidentiality.
- **Avoiding Harm:** Minimizes the potential for harm caused by cybersecurity activities, including damage to individuals, organizations, or society.

# **Cybersecurity Careers**

# **Cybersecurity Job Roles and Responsibilities**

- **Security Analyst:** Conducts vulnerability assessments, analyzes security logs, and identifies and responds to cybersecurity threats.
- **Incident Responder:** Handles cybersecurity incidents, including identifying the scope of the attack, containing the damage, and recovering from the breach.
- **Penetration Tester:** Conducts simulated cyberattacks to identify and assess security weaknesses in systems and applications.
- **Cybersecurity Consultant:** Provides expert advice and guidance on cybersecurity strategies, risk management, and incident response.

# **Cybersecurity Education and Training Pathways**

- **Relevant Certifications:** Pursues relevant cybersecurity certifications to demonstrate expertise and validate skills.
- Academic Programs: Enrolls in cybersecurity-related academic programs, such as bachelor's and master's degrees.
- **Bootcamps:** Attends cybersecurity bootcamps to gain intensive training in specific cybersecurity disciplines.

# **Cybersecurity Career Advancement Opportunities**

- **Specialization:** Advances in specific cybersecurity domains, such as network security, application security, or cloud security.
- **Leadership Roles:** Ascends to leadership positions in cybersecurity teams or organizations, managing and mentoring other cybersecurity professionals.
- **Entrepreneurship:** Ventures into cybersecurity entrepreneurship, establishing their own cybersecurity consulting or security solutions company.

# **Conclusion: Navigating the Evolving Cybersecurity Landscape**

In conclusion, the cybersecurity landscape is constantly evolving, with new threats, technologies, and practices emerging regularly. To effectively safeguard organizations, individuals, and society, a comprehensive understanding of cybersecurity fundamentals, technologies, practices, ethics, and careers is essential.

Through formal education, professional training, gamified learning, and interactive learning platforms, individuals can gain the knowledge and skills necessary to thrive in this dynamic field.

As cybersecurity professionals advance their expertise, they can specialize in specific domains, assume leadership roles, or even venture into cybersecurity entrepreneurship.

By embracing the challenges and opportunities presented by the ever-evolving cybersecurity landscape, individuals can make significant contributions to protecting our digital world.

# **Cybersecurity Learning Platforms**

#### **Formal Education**

# Description

Formal education in cybersecurity offers a structured and comprehensive approach to acquiring the knowledge, skills, and expertise necessary to excel in this dynamic and ever-evolving field.

Formal education programs are typically offered by universities, colleges, or specialized cybersecurity institutions, providing students with a demanding curriculum that spans a broad spectrum of cybersecurity topics, encompassing the theoretical foundations and practical applications of cybersecurity principles.

These programs equip individuals with the ability to effectively combat cyber threats, safeguarding critical infrastructure, protecting sensitive data, and maintaining the trust and security of the digital realm. (SIRT, 2023)

# **Example Websites:**

# edX: <a href="https://www.edx.org/">https://www.edx.org/</a>

edX is an online learning platform that offers a variety of cybersecurity courses from top universities and institutions worldwide. Their courses are taught by experienced instructors and cover a wide range of topics, from introductory cybersecurity concepts to advanced courses for experienced professionals. edX also offers certificates and certifications for completing courses. (edx, 2023)

# Coursera: <a href="https://www.coursera.org/">https://www.coursera.org/</a>

Coursera is a massive open online course (MOOC) platform that offers a wide range of cybersecurity courses from renowned universities and institutions such as MIT, Stanford, and UC Berkeley. Their courses are taught by leading experts in the field and cover a variety of topics, including network security, penetration testing, and ethical hacking. Coursera also offers specializations and professional certificates for completing courses. (Coursera, 2023)

# OpenCourseWare: <a href="https://ocw.mit.edu/">https://ocw.mit.edu/</a>

OpenCourseWare is a non-profit initiative at MIT that provides free access to MIT's course materials, including lecture notes, videos, assignments, and exams. Their cybersecurity courses cover a wide range of topics, from basic networking to advanced security concepts. (ocw, 2023)

#### **Target Audience**

Formal education in cybersecurity offers to a diverse range of individuals interested in pursuing careers in this field. It is suitable for:

- **Cybersecurity professionals:** Those seeking to enhance their knowledge and skills to advance their careers in cybersecurity.
- **Students interested in cybersecurity:** Graduates and professionals from various backgrounds seeking to enter the cybersecurity field or transition into cybersecurity roles.
- **High school students:** Early exposure to cybersecurity concepts can provide a competitive edge for future career prospects.

#### **Learning Approaches**

Formal cybersecurity education programs employ various learning approaches to ensure broad learning and engagement:

- Lectures: Instructor-led presentations that cover key concepts and theories.
- **Tutorials**: Step-by-step guidance on specific cybersecurity techniques and tools.
- **Hands-on exercises:** Practical exercises and labs that allow students to apply their knowledge and skills in real-world scenarios.
- Labs: Virtual environments that simulate real-world cybersecurity environments for hands-on training.
- **Simulations**: Interactive simulations that mimic real-world cybersecurity events to develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills.

# **Teaching Methods**

Formal cybersecurity education utilizes a variety of teaching methods to enhance the learning experience and engage students:

- Case studies: Analysis of real-world cybersecurity incidents to apply theoretical knowledge to practical scenarios.
- Guest speakers: Insights from industry experts and security professionals to gain real-world perspectives.
- Mentorship programs: Guidance and support from experienced cybersecurity professionals.

#### Additional Features

Formal cybersecurity education programs often incorporate additional features to enhance the learning experience and prepare students for the professional world:

- **Peer support:** Online forums and communities where students can connect with peers, share knowledge, and collaborate on projects.
- **Mentorship programs:** Guided relationships with experienced cybersecurity professionals who provide career advice and mentorship.
- **Industry certifications:** Preparation for industry-recognized certifications that validate expertise and enhance employability.
- **Job placement assistance:** Support in finding employment opportunities in the cybersecurity field.

# **Professional Training**

In today's dynamic cybersecurity landscape, professionals need to stay abreast of the latest threats and technologies to effectively protect their organizations. Specialized cybersecurity training websites provide a comprehensive platform for acquiring in-depth knowledge and hands-on experience in various cybersecurity domains.

#### Description

Professional cybersecurity training websites offer a wide range of learning resources tailored to specific career paths and industry demands. These websites go beyond theory concepts and provide learners with practical exposure to cyber security tools and techniques through video tutorials, practice exercises, labs, and virtual simulations.

# **Example Websites:**

• SANS Institute: https://www.sans.org/

SANS Institute is a renowned global provider of cybersecurity training and education. Its extensive offerings encompass a variety of cybersecurity domains, including network security, penetration testing, incident response, and digital forensics. (sans, 2023)

EC-Council: <a href="https://www.eccouncil.org/">https://www.eccouncil.org/</a>

EC-Council is a leading provider of cybersecurity certifications, including the popular Certified Ethical Hacker (CEH) and Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP). Their training programs provide comprehensive preparation for these certifications, ensuring learners gain the skills and knowledge required to excel in the cybersecurity industry. (eccouncil, 2023)

- CompTIA: <a href="https://www.comptia.org/">https://www.comptia.org/</a>
  - CompTIA is a leading non-profit organization that develops and administers IT certifications. Their cybersecurity certifications, including Security+ and Network+, are widely recognized in the industry and provide a solid foundation for aspiring cybersecurity professionals. (comptia, 2023)
- Cisco: <a href="https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/training-events/training-certifications/certifications.html">https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/training-events/training-certifications/certifications.html</a>
   Cisco is a global leader in networking technology, and its cybersecurity training programs are highly regarded in the industry. Their offerings focus on network security, cybersecurity infrastructure, and threat detection and response. (cisco, 2023)

#### **Target Audience**

Professional cybersecurity training websites cater to a wide range of individuals, from entry-level cybersecurity professionals seeking to enhance their skills to experienced professionals looking to advance their careers or specialize in specific areas. These websites provide a path for learners to progress from beginner to advanced levels, ensuring they gain the knowledge and expertise required to succeed in their chosen cybersecurity roles.

#### **Learning Approaches**

Professional cybersecurity training websites emphasize hands-on learning through a variety of engaging and interactive exercises, labs, and simulations. These practical exercises allow learners to apply their theoretical knowledge in a simulated environment, providing valuable experience in handling real-world cybersecurity challenges.

#### **Teaching Methods**

Beyond hands-on exercises, professional cybersecurity training websites utilize real-world scenarios and industry specific challenges to effectively engage learners. These scenarios and challenges simulate common cybersecurity threats and incidents, allowing learners to develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills.

Additional Features

In addition to comprehensive training programs, professional cybersecurity training websites offer a range of additional features that enhance the learning experience and career development. These features often include:

- Networking opportunities: These websites provide platforms for learners to connect with industry experts
  and fellow professionals, fostering valuable networking opportunities that can lead to job opportunities and
  industry insights.
- Career guidance: Many websites offer personalized career counseling and guidance, assisting learners in developing their career paths and navigating the ever-evolving cybersecurity landscape.

# **Gamified Learning**

# **Description:**

Websites that utilize gamification elements to make cybersecurity learning more engaging and interactive.

# **Example Websites:**

• TryHackMe: <a href="https://www.tryhackme.com/">https://www.tryhackme.com/</a>

TryHackMe is a gamified cybersecurity learning platform that utilizes challenges, leaderboards, badges, and rewards to make the learning experience more engaging and interactive. It offers a variety of challenges, ranging from beginner-friendly tasks to advanced penetration testing exercises. Learners can progress through these challenges at their own pace and earn badges and rewards for their accomplishments. TryHackMe also features a virtual environment where learners can practice their skills on simulated machines. (tryhackme, 2023)

• HackTheBox: <a href="https://www.hackthebox.com/">https://www.hackthebox.com/</a>

HackTheBox is a cybersecurity platform that provides a simulated red teaming environment where learners can practice their hacking skills. It offers a wide range of virtual machines, each with its own unique security configuration and challenges. Learners can attack these machines using their hacking skills and try to gain access to their sensitive information. HackTheBox also features a leaderboard where learners can compete against each other to see who can hack the most machines in the shortest amount of time. (hackthebox, 2023)

CyberStart: <a href="https://cyberstart.com/">https://cyberstart.com/</a>

CyberStart is a cybersecurity education program for students in grades 7-12. It provides a gamified learning experience that teaches students about various cybersecurity topics, including ethical hacking, penetration testing, and network security. CyberStart features a variety of challenges, puzzles, and competitions that help students develop their critical thinking and problem-solving skills. The program also offers a virtual environment where students can practice their skills on simulated networks. (cyberstat, 2023)

#### **Target Audience**

Gamified learning websites cater to a broad spectrum of learners, including:

- Cybersecurity beginners: Gamified platforms provide a structured and stimulating learning environment for individuals with limited cybersecurity knowledge. They offer a gradual progression through challenges, rewards, and interactive elements to build foundational cybersecurity skills.
- **Self-learners:** Gamification techniques effectively cater to self-directed learners, motivating them to engage with the learning material and progress at their own pace. The gamified challenges, leaderboards, and virtual environments provide a self-driven learning experience.
- Those seeking an immersive learning experience: Gamified learning websites offer an engaging and immersive learning experience, simulating real-world scenarios and challenges. This immersive approach appeals to individuals seeking a more interactive and engaging learning method.

#### **Learning Approaches**

Gamified cybersecurity learning websites employ various learning approaches to make the learning process more captivating and effective:

- **Gamified challenges:** Gamified challenges provide a structured and engaging way to learn cybersecurity concepts and skills. These challenges often involve tasks such as hacking into virtual machines, breaking through security systems, and solving puzzles, making the learning experience more hands-on and interactive.
- Leaderboards: Leaderboards allow learners to compete against each other and track their progress, fostering a sense of competition and motivation. Seeing how they rank among other learners can encourage continued engagement and skill development.
- Badges and rewards: Badges and rewards provide additional incentives for learners, recognizing their
  achievements and motivating them to progress further. Earning badges and rewards can enhance the sense of
  accomplishment and engagement.
- Point systems: Point systems serve as a tracking mechanism for learners, allowing them to monitor their
  progress and unlock new challenges and rewards. This gamification element gamifies the learning experience
  and provides a sense of accomplishment as learners accumulate points.
- Virtual environments: Virtual environments provide a safe and realistic environment for learners to practice their cybersecurity skills without the risk of affecting real-world systems. These simulated environments allow learners to apply their knowledge in a controlled setting, enhancing their practical skills.
- Interactive narratives: Interactive narratives incorporate storytelling elements into the learning experience, making it more engaging and relatable. These narratives can enhance the understanding of cybersecurity concepts and challenges, making the learning process more immersive.

#### Additional Features

Gamified cybersecurity learning platforms often incorporate additional features to enhance the learning experience and foster a sense of community:

- **Community forums:** Community forums provide a platform for learners to interact, exchange ideas, and collaborate on challenges. This fosters a sense of community and shared learning, enriching the learning experience.
- **Social features:** Social features, such as chat rooms, messaging, and leaderboards, enable learners to connect with each other, share knowledge, and compete in friendly competitions. These social elements enhance the overall learning experience and create a sense of belonging.

By incorporating gamification elements, virtual environments, interactive narratives, and community features, gamified cybersecurity learning platforms transform cybersecurity education into an engaging and immersive journey, making it more accessible and effective for learners of all levels.

# **Interactive Learning Platforms**

# **Description:**

Websites that provide hands-on exercises, labs, and simulations to help learners apply cybersecurity concepts and skills. These platforms offer a variety of learning resources, including video tutorials, practice exercises, labs, and simulations, allowing learners to gain hands-on experience with cybersecurity tools and techniques.

#### **Example Websites:**

• Pluralsight: <a href="https://www.pluralsight.com/">https://www.pluralsight.com/</a>

Pluralsight is a leading online learning platform that offers a vast library of cybersecurity courses, including video tutorials, practice exercises, labs, and simulations. Their courses are designed by industry experts and cover a wide range of topics, from foundational cybersecurity concepts to advanced skills for specific cybersecurity domains. (pluralsight, 2023)

CBT Nuggets: <a href="https://www.cbtnuggets.com/">https://www.cbtnuggets.com/</a>

CBT Nuggets is a popular provider of IT and cybersecurity training. Their engaging and interactive courses are delivered by experienced IT professionals and cover a wide range of cybersecurity topics, from networking security to penetration testing. CBT Nuggets also offers live training events and certification prep courses. (cbtnuggets, 2023)

• Cybrary: https://www.cybrary.it/

Cybrary is a free and open-source online cybersecurity training platform that offers a variety of courses, training modules, and resources for aspiring cybersecurity professionals. Their courses cover a wide range of topics, from ethical hacking to cloud security. Cybrary also offers paid premium features, such as access to live cybersecurity bootcamps and career resources. (cybrary, 2023)

# **Target Audience:**

Cybersecurity beginners, intermediate learners, and those seeking hands-on practice. These platforms cater to individuals with varying levels of cybersecurity knowledge and experience, providing a comprehensive learning experience for beginners and opportunities for advanced learners to refine their skills. (Pluralsight, 2023)

#### **Learning Approaches:**

Immersive and engaging learning approaches are employed by these platforms, utilizing a variety of interactive learning tools and techniques. Practice exercises allow learners to apply their knowledge and skills in a hands-on manner, reinforcing concepts learned in lectures or tutorials. Labs provide learners with the opportunity to experiment with cybersecurity tools and techniques in a controlled environment, simulating real-world scenarios. Simulations offer a realistic representation of cybersecurity scenarios, enabling learners to practice their skills and receive feedback on their performance. (cbtnuggets, 2023)

# **Teaching Methods:**

Interactive interfaces and step-by-step instructions enhance the learning process on these platforms. Interactive interfaces make it easy for learners to engage with the learning material, while step-by-step instructions provide guidance as they work through exercises, labs, and simulations.

#### **Additional Features:**

Progress tracking and personalized learning paths are key features offered by these platforms, allowing learners to monitor their progress and tailor their learning experience to their specific needs and interests. This personalized approach ensures that learners receive the most benefit from the platform's resources.

- Practice exercises: Interactive practice exercises provide opportunities for learners to apply their knowledge and skills in a hands-on way. They can be used to reinforce concepts learned in lectures or tutorials, allowing learners to apply the theoretical knowledge to real-world scenarios.
- Labs: Labs allow learners to create virtual environments and experiment with cybersecurity tools and techniques. This can be a valuable way to learn how to apply cybersecurity concepts in a real-world setting. Learners can experiment with various security tools and techniques, such as penetration testing, network security, and incident response, gaining hands-on experience in a safe and controlled environment.
- **Simulations**: Simulations provide a realistic representation of cybersecurity scenarios. Learners can practice their skills in a controlled environment and receive feedback on their performance. Simulations allow learners to experience various cybersecurity threats and attack scenarios, providing valuable learning opportunities.
- Virtual environments: Virtual environments allow learners to practice their cybersecurity skills in a safe and
  realistic environment. They can be used to simulate real-world networks, systems, and attacks. Virtual
  environments offer learners a safe space to explore and practice their skills without the risk of affecting real-world
  systems.
- Interactive interfaces: Interactive interfaces make it easy for learners to engage with the learning material and practice their skills. They can include features such as drag-and-drop exercises, interactive diagrams, and quizzes, enhancing the learning experience.
- **Step-by-step instructions:** Step-by-step instructions provide guidance for learners as they work through exercises, labs, and simulations. This can help to ensure that they are on the right track and that they are learning the material effectively.
- **Progress tracking:** Progress tracking tools allow learners to see how they are doing and identify areas where they need to improve. This can help them to stay on track and motivated.
- **Personalized learning paths:** Personalized learning paths allow learners to tailor their learning experience to their own needs and interests. This can make the learning process more engaging and effective.

# **Taxonomy of Cybersecurity Certifications**

# **CompTIA Security+**

- Purpose: To validate foundational cybersecurity knowledge
- Target Profession: IT security analyst, junior security engineer
- Level: Entry-level
- Jobs:
  - o **IT security analyst:** Conducts vulnerability assessments and penetration tests, identifies, and recommends security solutions, and develops and implements security policies and procedures.
  - Junior security engineer: Designs, configures, and manages security systems and networks, maintains security documentation, and troubleshoots security incidents.

**Description:** The CompTIA Security+ certification is a fundamental certification for those who seek to enter the field of cybersecurity. It provides a comprehensive overview of the basic concepts and principles of cybersecurity, including networking security, access control, vulnerability assessment, and incident response.

This certification serves as a solid foundation for aspiring cybersecurity professionals, equipping them with the essential knowledge to navigate the complexities of the cybersecurity domain. It is also a prerequisite for many advanced cybersecurity certifications, such as the Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP), further establishing its value in the field. (comptia, 2023)

# **Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP)**

- Purpose: To demonstrate expertise in cybersecurity principles and practices
- Target Profession: Security manager, security architect, penetration tester
- Level: Mid-level
- Jobs:
  - Security manager: Oversees the organization's cybersecurity program, develops, and implements security policies and procedures, and manages security risk assessment and mitigation.
  - Security architect: Designs and architects secure IT infrastructure, develops and implements security solutions, and conducts security assessments and penetration tests.
  - Penetration tester: Conducts authorized simulated attacks on computer systems and networks to identify and exploit vulnerabilities.

**Description:** The Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) certification is a highly regarded credential recognized worldwide for its rigorous standards and comprehensive scope. It is designed for experienced cybersecurity professionals with a minimum of five years of relevant work experience.

To attain this certification, candidates must demonstrate expertise in a wide range of cybersecurity domains, including access control, risk management, cryptography, and incident response. The CISSP certification is a testament to a deep understanding of cybersecurity principles and practices, making it highly sought after by employers worldwide. (isc2, 2023)

#### **GIAC Certified Ethical Hacker (CEH)**

- Purpose: To teach ethical hacking techniques to identify and exploit vulnerabilities in computer systems
- Target Profession: Ethical hacker, penetration tester
- **Level:** Entry-level to mid-level
- Jobs:
  - Security manager: Oversees the organization's cybersecurity program, develops, and implements security policies and procedures, and manages security risk assessment and mitigation.
  - Security architect: Designs and architects secure IT infrastructure, develops and implements security solutions, and conducts security assessments and penetration tests.
  - Penetration tester: Conducts authorized simulated attacks on computer systems and networks to identify and exploit vulnerabilities.

**Description:** The GIAC Certified Ethical Hacker (CEH) certification is a globally recognized mark of proficiency in ethical hacking practices. It equips individuals with the skills to identify and exploit vulnerabilities in computer systems in a controlled and authorized manner.

To achieve the CEH certification, candidates must demonstrate their ability to apply ethical hacking techniques, conduct vulnerability assessments, and report findings effectively. This certification is highly sought after by organizations seeking to enhance their cybersecurity posture and protect their assets from cyber threats. (giac, 2023)

# **Certified Ethical Hacker - Master (CEH Master)**

- Purpose: To advance expertise in penetration testing and vulnerability management
- Target Profession: Senior penetration tester, security consultant
- Level: Advanced
- Jobs:
  - Security manager: Oversees the organization's cybersecurity program, develops, and implements security policies and procedures, and manages security risk assessment and mitigation.
  - Security architect: Designs and architects secure IT infrastructure, develops and implements security solutions, and conducts security assessments and penetration tests.
  - Penetration tester: Conducts authorized simulated attacks on computer systems and networks to identify and exploit vulnerabilities.

**Description**: The Certified Ethical Hacker - Master (CEH Master) certification is an advanced credential designed for experienced ethical hackers seeking to further enhance their expertise. It encompasses a deeper dive into advanced penetration testing techniques, vulnerability management strategies, and security leadership principles.

To achieve the CEH Master certification, candidates must demonstrate their ability to conduct complex ethical hacking engagements, assess and mitigate sophisticated vulnerabilities, and lead security initiatives within an organization. (eccouncil, 2023)

# **GIAC Certified Security Expert (GSE)**

- **Purpose**: To demonstrate the highest level of expertise in cybersecurity
- Target Profession: Cybersecurity expert, security architect
- Level: Expert
- Jobs:
  - Senior penetration tester: Conducts complex penetration tests, assesses, and mitigates sophisticated vulnerabilities, and leads penetration testing teams.
  - Security consultant: Provides security consulting services to organizations, conducts security assessments, and recommends security solutions.

**Description**: The pinnacle of cybersecurity certifications, the GIAC Certified Security Expert (GSE) certification is reserved for the most accomplished professionals in the field. It demands a deep understanding of a wide spectrum of cybersecurity domains, including network security, application security, and operational security.

To earn the GSE certification, candidates must possess exceptional problem-solving skills, leadership capabilities, and an unwavering commitment to excellence in cybersecurity. (giac, 2023)

# Technologies used in this project

#### **HTML**

I used the HTML, the standard markup language for creating web pages, to structure and define the content of this project. I used HTML tags to delineate various elements, such as headings, paragraphs, and images, providing a clear and organized presentation of information.

By utilizing HTML's capabilities, I have effectively highlighted the purpose of the project and ensured its accessibility to a wide audience. The use of HTML has enabled me to create a web page that is both informative and visually appealing. (Mozilla, 2023)

#### **CSS**

To complement the structured content established with HTML, I employed Cascading Style Sheets (CSS) to enhance the visual presentation of this project. CSS has been instrumental in styling and formatting the web page, ensuring a consistent and aesthetically pleasing user experience.

Through the application of CSS properties, I carefully crafted the layout, font styles, colours, and spacing of various elements on the page. This diligence has resulted in a visually engaging web page that effectively conveys the project's message. CSS has played a pivotal role in transforming the raw HTML structure into a polished and visually appealing web page. Its ability to control the presentation of content has been invaluable in creating a user-friendly and engaging online experience. (Mozilla, 2023)

#### **PHP**

To complement the static content provided by HTML and the visual enhancements introduced by CSS, I have leveraged PHP, a server-side scripting language, to add dynamic functionality to this project. PHP has been instrumental in processing user input, interacting with databases, and generating personalized content.

Through the application of PHP scripts, I have enabled users to interact with the web page in meaningful ways, such as submitting forms, retrieving data from databases, and receiving customized feedback. This dynamic interaction has transformed the web page from a static presentation into an engaging and interactive experience.

PHP has played a crucial role in bridging the gap between the user and the project's data and logic. Its ability to execute code on the server has allowed me to create a web page that is not only visually appealing but also responsive to user input and dynamically tailored to individual needs. (php, 2023)

#### **JavaScript**

To further enhance the interactive capabilities of this project, I have incorporated JavaScript, a client-side scripting language, to add dynamic behaviour to the web page. JavaScript has been helpful in responding to user actions, manipulating the DOM (Document Object Model), and creating rich user interfaces.

Through the application of JavaScript functions and event handlers, I have enabled users to engage with the web page in real-time, such as triggering animations, providing interactive feedback, and validating user input. This dynamic interactivity has transformed the web page from a passive presentation into a responsive and engaging experience.

JavaScript has played a significant role in extending the functionality of the web page beyond the limitations of static HTML and CSS. Its ability to execute code in the browser has allowed me to create a web page that is not only visually appealing but also adaptable to user interactions and capable of providing real-time feedback. (Mozilla, 2023)

#### **XAMPP**

To facilitate the development and testing of this project, I have utilized XAMPP, a free and open-source web server solution stack package. XAMPP has provided a comprehensive environment for running and managing the project's components, including the Apache HTTP Server, MariaDB database, and interpreters for PHP and Perl scripts.

By utilizing XAMPP, I have streamlined the development process and ensured a consistent testing environment for the project. The ease of installation and configuration of XAMPP has allowed me to focus on the core aspects of the project's development without the complexities of setting up and managing individual components.

XAMPP has played a valuable role in supporting the development and deployment of this project. Its ability to provide a local web server environment has been helpful in testing and refining the project's functionality, ensuring its smooth operation in a real-world setting. (Javatpoint, 2023)

### **Apache**

To power the web server component of this project, I have utilized Apache HTTP Server, a free and open-source web server software. Apache has been instrumental in handling incoming requests, processing responses, and delivering content to users.

By employing Apache, I have leveraged its robust and scalable architecture to support the project's traffic demands. The flexibility and modularity of Apache have allowed me to customize its configuration to meet the specific needs of the project, ensuring optimal performance and security.

Apache has played a crucial role in ensuring the project's accessibility and availability to users worldwide. Its ability to manage high volumes of traffic and its reputation for reliability have made it an ideal choice for powering the project's web server infrastructure. (Apache, 2023)

#### **MySQL**

To manage and store the project's data, I have utilized MySQL, a free and open-source relational database management system. MySQL has been helpful in organizing, storing, and retrieving data efficiently, ensuring the integrity and accessibility of the project's information.

By using MySQL, I have leveraged its powerful query language, SQL (Structured Query Language), to manipulate and analyse data effectively. The flexibility and scalability of MySQL have allowed me to accommodate the project's data growth and ensure efficient data retrieval for the web application. (mysql, 2023)

MySQL has played a vital role in ensuring the project's data integrity and reliability. Its ability to enforce data integrity constraints and provide ACID (Atomicity, Consistency, Isolation, Durability) guarantees has made it an ideal choice for managing the project's critical data.

# **Technologies used in the Cyber Security areas**

# **Python**

**Python** is a versatile and powerful programming language that is widely used in cybersecurity due to its ease of use, extensive standard library, and active community. It is particularly well-suited for tasks that require rapid development and prototyping, such as network scanning, vulnerability assessment, and incident response. Python's simple syntax and readability make it an excellent choice for beginners who are new to cybersecurity programming. Additionally, the language's extensive libraries provide ready-made tools for common cybersecurity tasks, reducing development time and effort. (knowledgehut, 2023)

### C/C++

**C and C++** are powerful and efficient programming languages that are often used for developing security software, such as firewalls, intrusion detection systems, and antivirus software. Their low-level access to system resources allows developers to create highly optimized and secure code, making them ideal for critical security applications. However, C and C++ also demand a higher level of programming expertise compared to languages like Python. (securitymadesimple, 2023)

#### Java

Java is a general-purpose programming language that is widely used in various domains, including cybersecurity. Its platform independence, coupled with its extensive ecosystem of libraries and tools, makes Java a popular choice for developing cross-platform security solutions. Java's portability ensures that security applications developed using Java can run seamlessly across different operating systems, simplifying deployment and maintenance. Additionally, Java's vast library support provides ready-made components for common cybersecurity tasks, minimizing development time and effort. (eccu, 2023)

#### **PowerShell**

**PowerShell** is a scripting language specifically designed for Windows systems, making it an essential tool for system administration and automation tasks in cybersecurity. Its ability to interact with Windows operating systems' APIs allows cybersecurity professionals to automate tasks such as patching systems, configuring security settings, and gathering system information for analysis. PowerShell's scripting capabilities also extend to developing security tools that leverage Windows-specific functionalities. (Cebe, 2023)

# **Assembly Language**

Assembly language is a low-level programming language that provides direct access to a computer's hardware resources. Its intricate control over hardware makes assembly language a valuable tool for developing security software that requires fine-grained control over system operations. For instance, assembly language can be used to develop firewalls that selectively block specific network traffic or antivirus software that detects and removes malware at the instruction level. However, assembly language's complexity and difficulty to learn limit its use to experienced security professionals with deep knowledge of computer hardware and operating systems. (TAYLOR, 2022)

#### Perl

**Perl** is a scripting language known for its versatility and extensive standard library, making it a valuable tool for system administration and automation tasks in cybersecurity. Its ability to handle diverse data formats, connect to various network protocols, and interact with external systems makes it suitable for tasks like network scanning, vulnerability assessment, and intrusion detection. Perl's flexibility and extensive library support enable cybersecurity professionals to develop custom security tools and automate complex security procedures. (infosec, 2023)

# **Summary and Conclusion**

This taxonomy-based approach systematically organizes the diverse elements of cybersecurity learning, providing a comprehensive framework for individuals seeking to enhance their skills. From online platforms to hands-on practice and underlying technologies, this report aims to guide aspiring cybersecurity professionals toward a structured and effective learning journey.

# **Bibliography**

Apache, 2023. What is the Apache HTTP Server Project?. [Online]

Available at: https://httpd.apache.org/ABOUT APACHE.html

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

babix, 2023. Common Cyber Attack Vectors. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.balbix.com/insights/attack-vectors-and-breach-methods/">https://www.balbix.com/insights/attack-vectors-and-breach-methods/</a>

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

Cavalancia, N., 2020. What is network security? Network security technologies explained. [Online]

Available at: https://cybersecurity.att.com/blogs/security-essentials/network-security-and-technologies-explained

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

cbtnuggets, 2023. cbtnuggets. [Online]

Available at: https://www.cbtnuggets.com/

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

cbtnuggets, 2023. Certification Training. [Online]

Available at: https://www.cbtnuggets.com/certification-playlist

[Accessed 20 10 2023].

Cebe, E., 2023. Powershell for Cybersecurity. [Online]

Available at: https://medium.com/@eyupcebe/powershell-for-cybersecurity-27e9c45c3d8a

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

Chai, W., 2023. What is the CIA triad (confidentiality, integrity and availability)?. [Online]

Available at: https://www.techtarget.com/whatis/definition/Confidentiality-integrity-and-availability-CIA

[Accessed 26 11 2023].

cisco, 2023. cisco. [Online]

Available at: https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/training-events/training-certifications/certifications.html

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

comptia, 2023. comptia. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.comptia.org/">https://www.comptia.org/</a>

[Accessed 26 11 2023].

comptia, 2023. security. [Online]

Available at: https://www.comptia.org/certifications/security

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

Coursera, 2023. Coursera. [Online]

Available at: https://www.coursera.org/

[Accessed 25 11 2023].

cyberstat, 2023. cyberstat. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://cyberstart.com/">https://cyberstart.com/</a>

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

cybrary, 2023. cybrary. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.cybrary.it/">https://www.cybrary.it/</a>

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

eccouncil, 2023. eccouncil. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.eccouncil.org/">https://www.eccouncil.org/</a>

[Accessed 26 11 2023].

eccouncil, 2023. Your road to Certified Ethical Hacker Master. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.eccouncil.org/train-certify/ceh-master/">https://www.eccouncil.org/train-certify/ceh-master/</a>

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

eccu, 2023. eccu. [Online]

Available at: https://www.eccu.edu/blog/technology/best-programming-languages-to-learn-for-cybersecurity-

 $\underline{professionals/\#:^{\sim}: text=Java\%3A\%20Java\%20 is\%20 another\%20 language, suitable\%20 for\%20 secure\%20 software\%20 developme}$ 

<u>nt.</u>

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

edx, 2023. *edx.* [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.edx.org/">https://www.edx.org/</a>

[Accessed 25 11 2023].

enisa, 2023. NIS Directive. [Online]

Available at: https://www.enisa.europa.eu/topics/cybersecurity-policy/nis-directive-new

[Accessed 26 11 2023].

giac, 2023. GIAC Portfolio Certifications. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.giac.org/get-certified/giac-portfolio-certifications/">https://www.giac.org/get-certified/giac-portfolio-certifications/</a>

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

hackthebox, 2023. hackthebox. [Online]
Available at: https://www.hackthebox.com/

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

infosec, 2023. Perl explained. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://infosec-jobs.com/insights/perl-explained/">https://infosec-jobs.com/insights/perl-explained/</a>

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

isc2, 2023. Earn the CISSP. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.isc2.org/certifications/cissp">https://www.isc2.org/certifications/cissp</a>

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

Javatpoint, 2023. What is XAMPP?. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.javatpoint.com/xampp">https://www.javatpoint.com/xampp</a>

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

knowledgehut, 2023. Beginners Guide on Python for Cybersecurity. [Online]

Available at: https://www.knowledgehut.com/blog/security/python-for-cybersecurity

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

Mozilla, 2023. HTML: HyperText Markup Language. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://developer.mozilla.org/en-US/docs/Web/HTML">https://developer.mozilla.org/en-US/docs/Web/HTML</a>

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

Mozilla, 2023. What is CSS?. [Online]

Available at: https://developer.mozilla.org/en-US/docs/Learn/CSS/First\_steps/What\_is\_CSS

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

Mozilla, 2023. What is JavaScript?. [Online]

Available at: https://developer.mozilla.org/en-US/docs/Learn/JavaScript/First\_steps/What\_is\_JavaScript

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

mysql, 2023. What is mysql?. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://dev.mysql.com/doc/refman/8.0/en/what-is-mysql.html">https://dev.mysql.com/doc/refman/8.0/en/what-is-mysql.html</a>

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

ncsc, 2023. Incident Reporting. [Online]

Available at: https://www.ncsc.gov.ie/incidentreporting/

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

ocw, 2023. ocw. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://ocw.mit.edu/">https://ocw.mit.edu/</a>

[Accessed 25 11 2023].

php, 2023. What is php?. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.php.net/manual/en/intro-whatis.php">https://www.php.net/manual/en/intro-whatis.php</a>

[Accessed 15 10 2023].

pluralsight, 2023. pluralsight. [Online]
Available at: <a href="https://www.pluralsight.com/">https://www.pluralsight.com/</a>

[Accessed 27 11 2023].

Pluralsight, 2023. Pluralsight Skills for Individuals. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.pluralsight.com/product/skills/individuals">https://www.pluralsight.com/product/skills/individuals</a>

[Accessed 20 10 2023].

sans, 2023. sans. [Online]

Available at: https://www.sans.org/

[Accessed 26 11 2023].

securitymadesimple, 2023. securitymadesimple. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://securitymadesimple.org/cybersecurity-blog/is-c-good-for-cybersecurity/">https://securitymadesimple.org/cybersecurity-blog/is-c-good-for-cybersecurity/</a>

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

SIRT, S. C., 2023. The Importance of Cybersecurity Education in Today's Digital World. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.socinvestigation.com/the-importance-of-cybersecurity-education-in-todays-digital-world/">https://www.socinvestigation.com/the-importance-of-cybersecurity-education-in-todays-digital-world/</a> [Accessed 26 11 2023].

TAYLOR, C., 2022. Assembly Language. [Online]

Available at: https://cyberhoot.com/cybrary/assembly-language/

[Accessed 28 11 2023].

tryhackme, 2023. *tryhackme*. [Online] Available at: <a href="https://www.tryhackme.com/">https://www.tryhackme.com/</a> [Accessed 27 11 2023].

umd, 2023. *umd*. [Online]

Available at: <a href="https://www.umd.edu/">https://www.umd.edu/</a>

[Accessed 25 11 2023].